
The Durham City Council:  
Discrimination by Fast-Tracking and the Lack of Transparency  

On April 3, 2018 a group of known anti-Israel petitioners wrote the City Council asking that their 
petition be put immediately on the April 5 work session agenda (1). Using his personal Gmail 
account, Mayor Schewel replied to City Manager Thomas Bonfield, “I…told them [even though] 
they are late in signing up…to call the clerk now and sign up.” (2) 

In so doing so, the Mayor ignored Council policy, which clearly states speakers must sign up “ten 
calendar days prior to the City Council Work Session meeting at which you wish to speak.” (3) 

On April 5, Beth Bruch, one of the petitioners and a donor to council person Jillian Johnson, 
benefiting from the rules being waived, spoke first at the work session, saying to the City 
Council, “We know Israel is the last country in the world to respect human rights.”  

Twelve hours before the April 5 work session was even set to begin, Mayor Schewel sent City 
Manager Bonfield and every member of the City Council his self-authored “Statement on 
policing from the Durham City Council.” Schewel sent the council statement from his personal 
email account to the personal email accounts of Bonfield and all city council members (4), thus 
keeping the statement out of the eyes of the media, which regularly monitor city council emails. 
Mayor Schewel did not consult with the mainstream Jewish Community on his wording and later 
told us that no word could be changed because the Council members would not allow it.  

Thus, Mayor Schewel wrote policy that discriminated against Israel and Jews without allowing 
even a single minute of public discussion and without including the mainstream Jewish 
community.  

At a later date, I made a public records request for city council-related emails that reside in 
DeDreana Freeman’s personal email account. Juliet Black, Executive Assistant in the Office of 
the Mayor and Council, wrote to the City Clerk in response to my request, “please note Council 
Freeman wants all of the emails blackened out.” That is concerning. (5) 

Charlie Reece wrote to the City Attorney, Patrick Baker, “I have received a public records request 
for certain email messages sent and received from my personal Gmail account. Just over 1,300 
emails are responsive to the request.” (6) 

It is clear that Durham City Council were fast tracking anti-Israel policy behind the veil of 
personal email accounts. 

In this manner, the Durham City Council hastily initiated, supported and sponsored a “Statement” 
that adhered only to wishes of a national and local organization that despises Israel. The Durham 
City Council broke their own scheduling policy and used personal email accounts to cloak their 
actions against Israel and the Jewish community. By doing so, the council initiated a government 
act that has led to our sense of alienation and discrimination in this community.  

(1) The letter indicating the value placed by the petitioners on haste and repeats 

the unsubstantiated and defaming lies: 



 

!  

(2)The letter from the Mayor’s personal email account (doing 

public business) indicating the mayor’s agreeing to the haste and 

changing the rules to accommodate: 

: Steve Schewel <steveschewel@gmail.com> 

Subject: Re: FYI: Training from Israeli security forces 

Date: April 2, 2018 at 7:13:54 AM EDT 

mailto:steveschewel@gmail.com


To: Bonfield, Thomas <Thomas.Bonfield@durhamnc.gov> 

Cc: Wallace, Karmisha <Karmisha.Wallace@durhamnc.gov> 

 

Tom, 

I have been taking the temperature of individual council 
members on this issue during the past week. The only person I 
have not talked to yet is Vernetta, and I hope to talk to her 
today. The council members are giving it careful thought. 

I think the best way to handle the Demilitarize Durham group 
is to have them come to the work session and speak in an 
orderly way at our citizen comment period. I have reached out 
to them, told them they are late in signing up, told them to call 
the clerk now and sign up. They want to present a petition, and 
I think that is the best way to do it. 

Let's touch base on this today, in person or over the phone. I'll 
be around city hall today in the late morning. I have some 
thoughts about this I'd like to share with you. 

mailto:Thomas.Bonfield@durhamnc.gov
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(3) 
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(4) Three emails sent by Mayor Schewel to Bonfield and City 
Council members from Schewel’s personal email.  

!  



!  
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(5) Council Person Freeman and the public record 

From: Black, Juliet 

Sent: Tuesday, May 15, 2018 8:53:25 AM 

To: Schreiber, Diana 

Cc: Freeman, DeDreana; Black, Juliet 

Subject: RE: Public Record Requests- Reitzes 

Diana, I will bring you the emails from Public Request #4104536 today, 

please note Council Freeman wants all of the emails blackened out. Per our 

conversation on yesterday, 5/15/18 – between the hours of 10 amnoon, you 

stated you would handle this request. 

From my understanding in the email below, once you receive the final okay 

from Legal, you will distribute the information to Mr. Reitzes via Dropbox, 

once TS (Dave) train you. 



If I misstated anything, please verify, 

to assure we are on the same page. 

Thank you. 

(6)Councilman Reece noted that he had 1300 emails in his 

personal email that “are responsive” to the request for 

relevant council business 

From: Reece, Charlie 
Sent: Tuesday, May 15, 2018 4:34:26 PM 

To: Goode, Kerry 

Cc: Baker, Patrick 
Subject: Help with email archive 

Dear Kerry, 

I have received a public records request for certain email messages sent and 

received from my personal Gmail account. Just over 1,300 emails are 

responsive to the request, so I exported them from Gmail in .mbox format. 

The result is a .mbox file which is 211MB in size. 

Can you or someone from your department help me convert this file into a 

format that might be suitable for providing to the individual who requested these 

emails? I’m not sure what that would look like – maybe there’s software that 

would allow us to take the .mbox file and use it to generate PDFs of each email 

thread along with PDFs of any attachments? I’m not sure where to go from here.  

Thanks, 

Charlie Reece 

Member. Durham City Council 

Respectfully Presented to the Human Relations Commission 
Peter Reitzes, June 5, 2018 




